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Preface







‘In Southern Italy life is reversed; the simplest thing becomes the most complex.’


Ann Cornelisen, Torregreca





As you journey south of Naples towards the remote region of Basilicata you’ll see its monumental, majestic mountains rising ahead of you. They’re rocky, barren peaks, sometimes capped with snow, a church or a crucifix. The mountains turn an ever fainter blue until, in the distance, they blanch and blend into the wide sky.


Basilicata is the forgotten land of Italy. My dog-eared, twenty-year-old guide book to the peninsula has only six pages, out of over eight hundred, on the region. When I stop in a service station to buy a map of the area, the man behind the counter looks at me with surprise.


‘Basilicata?’ he asks gruffly, frowning as if I’ve made a mistake. He spins the map stand and pulls out alternatives. ‘We’ve got Campania. There’s Calabria, or Sicily.’ There are dozens of guides to other regions but not one for Basilicata. It’s not somewhere that tourists travel to.


Even most Italians would be hard pushed to say exactly where Basilicata is: it straddles the instep and the metatarsal of the Italian boot, dipping into both the Ionian and Tyrrhenian seas. It’s the second most sparsely populated region in Italy after the Valle d’Aosta, its 10,000 square kilometres containing under 600,000 souls. Ninety two per cent of the region is classified as either mountainous or hilly.


Many people don’t even use the name Basilicata. The Romans called the area Lucania, a name revived under Mussolini, and today people still refer to the place as Lucania and to themselves as being Lucani. There’s much debate as to the origin of the word. It derives, possibly, from one of the tribes that settled here, either the Lyki or the Lucani. Others say that it comes from the Greek for ‘brightness’, leukos, or from the Latin for ‘forest’, lucus, or possibly from the Greek lykos, meaning ‘wolf’. When you’ve spent enough time in Lucania, all of these origins seem plausible. It has a remarkable combination of light and dark, of settled history and sudden danger, of dense forests and open spaces.


‘It’s wetted by two seas,’ wrote Francesco Saverio Nitti of his homeland in his famous book Heroes and Brigands in 1899, ‘and both one and the other have very melancholy coastlines.’ It doesn’t, he admitted, ‘have blossoming cities or industries. Its countryside is sad and its inhabitants are poor.’ The title of his book referred to the brigands who had led a ferocious insurgency against the imposition of the Piedmont monarchy in the years immediately after unification. Such was Lucania’s distance from the centres of power – Rome, Milan, Turin – that men like Carmine Crocco became folk heroes for their resistance to the ‘northerners’ and the ‘Piemontesi’. More than a century after that era of brigantaggio, Lucania was still sufficiently remote that it was the perfect place to hide the kidnapped John Paul Getty III in the 1970s.


That remoteness was also the reason for Mussolini sending political opponents of his regime to Lucania (he called it, after all, ‘the most forgotten land’). Intellectuals like Carlo Levi or mafiosi like Calogero Vizzini ended up exiled here in the 1930s, the former writing the most famous book ever published on the region, Christ Stopped at Eboli. It was during his exile that Levi met the dogged, endearing peasants living in a land ‘hedged in by custom and sorrow, cut off from history and the State, eternally patient … a land without comfort or solace, where the peasant lives out his motionless civilization on barren ground in remote poverty, and in the presence of death’.


‘This shadowy land’, he noted, was ‘almost exiled from time’; the cemetery was ‘perhaps the least melancholy’ spot in the village. Levi wrote about the ‘gloomy resignation’ and ‘primitive solemnity’, noticing the ‘tragic beauty’ of the place and the mountain-top houses that ‘appeared to teeter over the abyss’. Long after he left, there were still people in Lucania living, literally, in caves, in the famous sassi of Matera. There’s something primitive and timeless about this backdrop. It’s not surprising that this lonely land, with its rocky, rugged mountains, was where Mel Gibson chose to film The Passion of the Christ.


Even today it’s a place that often appears untouched by modernity. You’ll see old women bent double in the fields, scarves protecting their heads from the insistent sun as they slowly hoe the dusty soil. Some of the mountain villages are so isolated that the inhabitants still speak Albanian. There are almost no railways. The signs you see most often as you’re driving are ‘strada con buche’, ‘road with holes’, or else ‘strada dissestata’, meaning ‘uneven road’. It’s a part of the world that feels primitive and elemental. It’s a region of such hardship that between 1875 and 2006 almost a quarter of a million people emigrated. Set against that barren backdrop, human life seems somehow surprising and unexpected, almost incidental. The most common thing people say to you is ‘Qui nun g’è niend’: ‘There’s nothing here’.


That’s not quite true, of course. There are, in every village and town, fascinating glimpses into the history of the peninsula. The food and, especially, the wine are wonderful. There are many sites of astonishing natural beauty: wild places that, for once, seem untamed and untouched by human greed. And, in many ways, the region is actually thoroughly modern. There are wind turbines on some of those majestic mountains. Oil has been discovered in the region, meaning that huge pipelines run parallel to some of the dual carriageways. People talk optimistically of Lucania as the Texas of Italy. There are large industrial plants, trunk roads, occasional riches. This is where Italy’s largest telescope is to be found. Many of the sofas in Europe are made in Matera.


But none of that explains why it is that I’ve become so attached to Lucania. I don’t even know how it happened, but this, of all the places in Italy, feels like my spiritual home. There’s something here that, a long time ago, just got under my skin. It’s more a question of the people than the place. Perhaps because it’s an area almost entirely untouched by tourism, the Lucani are extraordinarily hospitable and generous. If you ask directions of someone, they’ll invariably walk you there themselves, stopping on the way in their cousin’s bar to offer you a coffee. ‘Offro io’ – ‘I’ll pay’ – is one of the most common phrases you hear. They often seem both astonished and delighted that a foreigner should come to this forgotten land, and are always eager to share the treasures of their region.


And, I discovered, there are many treasures, most of all the Lucani themselves. When I first moved to Italy in the late 1990s, I lived with three young men from Matera. It was, to say the least, a baptism of fire. They would have ferocious arguments and then, seemingly without reason, they would be laughing and joking together as if nothing had happened. They spoke a dialect that was incomprehensible to me. Lunch was rarely before three and dinner was always well after dark, normally at nine or ten. There was something about their impetuousness, about their pride in the land they had left behind, something about their passion and humour that intrigued me.


I remember being told by one of them that Lucania produced the best bread in the world. I sat there for over an hour, gently trying to suggest that Genoa, or France, or Germany, or – God forbid – even Britain produced some pretty decent loaves, but he was having none of it and got increasingly irate as he realised I wouldn’t be persuaded that, in the whole world, only Lucania produced the perfect loaf.


Years later, I had a similar experience of Lucania’s culinary pride. I was supposed to be giving a lecture at a literary festival in Potenza and, given the unconventional approach to punctuality, my hosts took me to dinner half an hour after my event was supposed to have started. When we arrived in the lecture hall much later, my event still couldn’t start as there was a heated discussion going on about which town in Lucania produced the best peppers. Two men were standing up in the auditorium, shouting at each other about who produced the finest specimens, while two dozen people laughed and clapped at their rhetoric and passion and sophisticated palates. I had no desire to interrupt them to start my own lecture, and neither, clearly, did anyone else. This is a region that loves its food. They say that people get what’s called vozza, an uncontrollable appetite that leads you to binge on the wonderful grub to the point of acute intestinal pain. People here eat more pasta per capita than in any other region of Italy.


The poet Leonardo Sinisgalli, himself Lucano, once wrote rather beautifully about his people: ‘There are many Lucani in the world,’ he said, ‘but nobody sees them. They’re not exhibitionists. The Lucani, more than every other people, live well in the shadows … No one knows how they got so much patience, so much endurance … This’, he wrote intriguingly, ‘is a people that wisdom has brought to the very edge of insanity.’


That patience and endurance is something that writers have noted down the ages. There’s a weary acceptance of hardship that borders on the fatalistic. Some people have suggested that such fatalism is fairly Hispanic, and indeed the whole region was, for centuries, under Spanish rule (in dialect, the word for ‘yesterday’ is ayer). But although the Lucani are famed for their patience, when they lose it they really lose it. Their history is full of iconic dates on which the people rose up against some perceived injustice: 1485, 1647, 1728, 1820, 1943. The cause of the revolt might appear minor (the imposition of duty on flour, for example, in 1728), but after decades or centuries of injustice, the people would suddenly rise up and say, ‘Mo’ basta’ – ‘That’s enough.’ Lucania is a land of rebels. Not the superficial sort who constantly gripe against authority, but the instinctive sort who have a deep sense of natural justice, the sort who have been constantly ignored by history and rulers and who patiently put up with so much until, unable to take any more, they revolt in unforgettable ways. It’s no surprise that this is where brigantaggio was born, or that Matera was the first city in the whole of southern Italy to rebel against the Nazi occupation after 8 September 1943. For all their instinctive patience, when a Lucano says, ‘Mo’ basta,’ it’s best to listen.


And that, in some ways, is what this book is about. It’s about an event so terrible and tragic that the Lucani’s instinctive sense of justice was profoundly offended. It’s about one iconic crime that resonated with a whole region and led it to search its side streets and its conscience for almost two decades. The disappearance of a sixteen-year-old girl, Elisa Claps, from the centre of Potenza in September 1993 was unlike all the other cronaca nera, black chronicles, I had reported on over the years. Ever since I had moved to Italy in the late 1990s, I had been fascinated by a series of mysteries: the Piazza Fontana massacre; the Monster of Florence atrocities; the disappearance of Emanuela Orlandi, a teenage citizen of Vatican City; the murders of Marta Russo and little Samuele; the Ustica tragedy; the Montesi scandal … The country seemed to have no end of gruesome but gripping enigmas, murders or missing-person cases that remained unresolved for years and decades. Each one would usually evolve and mutate, maybe overlap with other crime stories. Each would become more confused and complicated, allowing ample space for magistrates, journalists and barflies to indulge in conspiracy theories and offer their own elaborate and incredible explanations.


The fascination lay in the fact that each mystery offered a cast of carnival characters that sometimes seemed plucked from a Fellini film. Each mystery granted a unique insight into Italian life: it took you into strange suburbs and back alleys; it would introduce you to extremists and loners, to petty criminals and heroic, mourning families. Those mysteries seemed to ricochet through Italian society, and if you followed them closely they could lead you towards hidden corners of this wonderful, bizarre and bewildering country. All countries, of course, have their mysteries, but there was something unique about Italy’s iconic crimes. It often appeared, as Pirandello wrote almost a century ago, as if the search for truth in Italy really was futile, and that sanity could only be maintained if you gave up the search altogether and just enjoyed the fantastic make-believe. Such was the illusionism of Italian life that anyone searching for the truth would risk going deranged.


I had researched and written about many of the Italian mysteries, and had wearily forgotten the details about most of them. But there was something about the Elisa Claps case that stuck with me. It haunted me somehow. I had never known Elisa, but I found myself spending many melancholy hours gazing at her carefree face, at the photograph that was always used on posters pleading for information: pitch-black eyes, long dark hair falling onto a white jumper, a hint of a smile on her lips. Everything I heard about her made her disappearance all the more tragic. Here was a girl who was sixteen, just on the cusp of adulthood. She was the youngest daughter of an extraordinarily strong and loving family. She was honest and idealistic. She wanted to work for Médecins Sans Frontières. She wore jumpers knitted by her mother. That carefree face kept me up at night, and over the years I went through a kind of – I hope it’s not presumptuous to say this of someone you never knew – bereavement. I felt I was mourning her, and not just because of what might have, or must have, happened to her, but because she had become, for me and many others in Italy, a symbol of the disappearance of truth, a constant reminder of injustice and a summons to do something about it. And, of all the iconic Italian crimes, it was a mystery in the purest, simplest sense: it seemed to defy logic that a girl could vanish without trace from a city centre on a busy Sunday morning.


I started travelling to Potenza whenever I got the opportunity. It wasn’t easy: Potenza is a remote, isolated city, far from the country’s main road and rail links. It’s over five hundred miles south of Parma, where my wife’s family is from, and is not the kind of place you just happen to be passing. When you do eventually get there, it is, as my usually complimentary guide book says, ‘unlovely’. The city’s been razed to the ground so many times that, almost uniquely in Italy, there’s precious little that seems old or picturesque. It was razed in 1268, when Carlo I took revenge on the local nobles for daring to revolt. An earthquake struck five years later, then again in 1694 and in 1857, when over nine thousand lives were lost. The most recent struck in 1980, once again collapsing buildings and stealing lives. Blighted by those earthquakes and illegal building, the city spreads out from the central summit like a lumpy concrete skirt.


For years I had seen Gildo and Filomena, Elisa’s brother and mother respectively, on television. Their sad, stony faces made it very clear that they were determined underdogs who would fight, with dignity and devotion, until their very last breath for justice. I had admired them from a distance and had longed to help them, if I could, in that fight. I tentatively made contact with them, and over the years we became good friends. I listened to their suspicions and fears and slowly became acquainted with an extraordinary cast of characters: there was a dysfunctional, dangerous man with a hair fetish; his powerful Sicilian father; a dodgy priest and a heroic one; an enigmatic Calabrian doctor; a forgetful Albanian; and a devout, good-looking private detective. There were many lies and fantasies and false leads, and, seemingly, a classic cocktail of conspiracy and cock-up. It was a story in which the villains appeared pretty pitch-black, but there were also some notable heroes: Elisa’s mother, a diminutive, combative woman for whom my admiration grew every time I met her; the private detective who worked for the family, pro bono, for years; and the other priest, a brave, good man who refused to be cowed in his search for the truth.


I knew, sadly, that I wouldn’t solve the mystery, but I wanted at least to try and solve a different one, something that had always intrigued me: why does Italy have such a strange relationship to the truth? Why is it that Italian crimes are always like this, confusing, misleading and, above all, inconclusive? Why is nothing ever really resolved? In Britain there are occasional mysteries – Lord Lucan, Jack the Ripper, and so on – but here there are hundreds of complex, cold cases. I wanted if not to solve the Elisa Claps case, then at least to understand the society that made it possible; to understand the anthropological backdrop to the tragedy and to peer deeper into the soul of a region, Lucania, that I loved.


And what emerged, over the years, wasn’t just the fact that one girl’s innocence and life had been brutally stolen; with that came the suspicion that certain sections of society in this land of the eternal underdog might have somehow cut a deal with the powerful, allowing that innocence to be slain with impunity. Lucania had always imagined itself as an isola felice, a ‘happy island’ unique in southern Italy for having been able to hold the tentacles of organised crime at bay. The disappearance of Elisa Claps led many to realise that those tentacles were much closer than had previously been thought. It also led many to believe that there was, sometimes, a wafer-thin line between organised crime and organised religion. Like much of southern Italy, Lucania is steeped in the rites and rituals of the Catholic Church. The disappearance of Elisa revealed the dark side of that Church and showed how, in this case, it prized its reputation far more than it valued the truth.


It’s been an incredible, melancholic and, sometimes, uplifting journey. You never know where a book will lead you, and this one truly took me by surprise: I thought I was writing about an iconic crime in a remote corner of a foreign country when, suddenly, the story took an unexpected turn and led me back to my own roots in the south-west of England. I realised that the book had been a quest, and, like all quests, this one had brought me home after a long adventure. But when I got there, I wasn’t the same any more and home looked different somehow. Everything had changed. I had, in the past, rather relished the idea of Italy being a land of smoke and mirrors, of cloaks and daggers. I lapped up the noir, the intrigue and the convoluted conspiracy theories. I enjoyed the conjecture and the vertiginous paranoia, the whispers about hidden powers and sinister puppeteers. But now, now that it’s all over and we know what really happened, I’ve finally understood that, as with great mathematical equations, the truth is revealed not in complexity, but in simplicity. The truth, we realised too late, was staring us in the face all along.
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‘… strada facendo vedrai


che non sei più da solo


strada facendo troverai


anche tu un gancio in mezzo al cielo


e sentirai la strada far battere il tuo cuore


vedrai più amore vedrai


e una canzone neanche questa potrà mai cambiar la vita


ma che cos’è che ci fa andare avanti e dire che non è finita


cos’è che ci spezza il cuore tra canzoni e amore


che ci fa cantare e amare sempre più


perché domani sia migliore, perché domani tu


strada facendo vedrai.’


Claudio Baglioni





On the morning of Sunday 12 September 1993, Antonio and Filomena Claps were preparing for a family lunch in the countryside. They had driven the short, ten-minute drive to their house in Tito with Luciano, their middle child, a few hours earlier. It was an easy journey, a brief jump on the dual carriageway that took them away from the crowded, bustling city of Potenza. It was a warm, sunny day: the sky was dark blue and, after the torrential downpours of the day before, the air felt fresh.


Antonio was a short man. He was barrel-chested, gruff and kind. He had a glint in his eye and liked to make people laugh. He ran a tobacconist’s in the centre of the city and was well known, and well liked, by everyone. His unusual, un-Italian-sounding surname – Claps – was common around here. There were a few hundred Clapses in Lucania but hardly any others in Italy. Filomena was a diminutive but strong woman: she worked every morning as a public official in the Ufficio del Catasto, the local land registry office, before going home to cook lunch for everyone and then spending the afternoon working at the tobacconist’s. She was a woman who loved children. Whenever young kids used to come into the tobacconist’s with their parents, she would instantly be drawn to them, making them smile or laugh. But she would also correct or discipline them, telling them to wrap up or study hard. She was a devout Catholic and had strong opinions about right and wrong. She knew how to prepare all the old-fashioned delicacies of the region. She was a typical mamma, a woman who had, with Antonio, created a family home full of warmth and laughter and good food.


That Sunday morning, Antonio and Filomena chatted about their children, about the food they were going to eat, about what needed doing in the weeks ahead. They longed to retire out here in the country, where there was more space and quiet. A few more years in the city and they would move here for good.


The couple had three children. The eldest, Gildo, had been a regional swimming champion. In many ways he was a typical man: he loved motorbikes, cars, Roma football club and Tex, the popular comic hero created by Gian Luigi Bonelli. But he was also a serious student. He had almost finished his law studies, and his parents would proudly tell their friends that he only had to pass two more exams and he could finally graduate. Luciano, their middle child, was about to go off to do his military service. He wanted, eventually, to join the police. Their youngest was a girl, an adored daughter called Elisa. Everyone loved Elisa, the baby of the family. Even now, at sixteen and on the cusp of womanhood, they still thought of her as the cucciolo, the special puppy or pet. Her father, particularly, was besotted by her. There was something about Elisa that was naïve and innocent, and she still had all the idealism of a teenager: her ambition was to become a doctor in Africa. Her friends sometimes became impatient with her exceptional tenderness. On one occasion she had spent hours trying to help a butterfly take off again after it had somehow damaged its wings. She had been ecstatic when it had finally fluttered away. She had had a setback that year when she had failed some exams, but she had studied for much of the summer and had easily passed her retakes. She was attractive in a simple, natural way: thick, black hair, a disarming smile, a slightly round face.


With their three children becoming adults, Antonio and Filomena felt as if life was easier now than it had been in the past. It had often been tough, not least in 1980, when a powerful earthquake destroyed large parts of Potenza and its suburbs and the whole family had been forced to live first in a caravan and then in a converted shipping container. Many families round here had suffered a similar fate during the early 1980s as buildings either collapsed or were designated unsafe. Antonio and Filomena had suffered not only the difficulty of losing their house; they were also, briefly, separated from their children, who were sent to live with an aunt in Scanzano Jonico, on the Ionic coast. It was during that time that Antonio and Filomena decided to save money to build a house in the countryside. Their place in Tito, although it didn’t have a phone line and was still a bit rudimentary, was the realisation of a long-cherished dream.


As Filomena began preparing lunch, Antonio read the newspaper. For once there was good news. On the front page a photograph showed Yitzhak Rabin and Yasser Arafat. Bill Clinton stood between and behind them, his arms raised as the two shook hands having just signed the Oslo Accords. It was a shot that seemed to represent the optimism of the so-called New World Order: finally it looked like there was to be peace between the people of Israel and Palestine. It was an optimism that was misplaced. So too was the apparent calm in the Clapses’ country house. Later, Filomena would say that she felt a sense of foreboding that morning, a vague notion that something was terribly wrong.




*





Back in Potenza, in Via Mazzini 69, Gildo was awake long before Elisa. He had stayed in the city to study and was up early with his books. His plan, if he managed to graduate the following summer, was to enter the legal profession. Elisa had decided to stay with him for a lie-in: she would have struggled to be up at eight, when her parents and Luciano had left the house. And anyway, she wanted to see her friends and go to Mass before heading to the country.


Shortly after ten, Gildo woke his sister. She rolled over and groaned, but soon afterwards he heard, from his room, the running water of the shower and Claudio Baglioni’s song ‘Strada facendo’. It was Elisa’s favourite, and he could hear her singing along. Gildo smiled to himself at his younger sister’s taste: the evening before she had watched, for the umpteenth time, the film Ghost. He saw her come out of the bathroom ready to go out. She was wearing blue trousers and a white jumper knitted by their mother.


Shortly after eleven, the doorbell sounded. Gildo went to the intercom in the hall to open the front gate. It was Eliana, a friend of Elisa’s. They were going to go to Mass together before both heading to the country with Gildo. Gildo heard the lift rising up through the building and opened the front door to find the red-haired Eliana holding a tray of sweet pastries. Eliana left the pastries in the flat before heading out with Elisa, the two teenagers waving at him as the lift doors closed. It was the last time Gildo would ever see his sister.


It was a sunny morning. Elisa and Eliana walked up the steps towards the city centre. Via Pretoria was the central street where everyone went. It was one long, pedestrianised area where couples would walk arm in arm; where groups of friends chatted while sat on their mopeds; where cafes and bars were full of customers reading the papers and shouting their orders. There was a genteel bustle to the place on this late summer morning. Some people were buying their pastries for their Sunday lunch; others were buying polystyrene boxes of ice cream. By comparison with the bright sunlight outside, the Chiesa della Santissima Trinità was dark and cool. There was a background hiss of whispering as worshippers spoke quietly to each other during the rituals of the Mass.


An hour later, Gildo was hungry. He was keen to get going, to drive over to join his parents and enjoy a large lunch. As soon as his sister got back, they could leave. He didn’t even know why she went to Mass. He found the whole thing daft. Elisa and his mother were always going to church. Elisa even sang in the cathedral choir. But Gildo thought the Catholic Church was full of superstition and hypocrites. It was, he reckoned, a throwback to the Dark Ages. He had to be careful how he said such things to his mother. She had a strong faith and was forthright about the virtues of the Church.


Eventually the doorbell went. That, he thought, would be Elisa at last.


‘I’m coming down,’ he said, slightly impatiently as he picked up the intercom.


‘Is Elisa there with you?’ It was Eliana’s voice.


‘No, she’s not,’ Gildo said. ‘What’s happened, why aren’t you together?’


‘Don’t worry, nothing’s happened. We lost sight of each other coming out of the church, and I thought she must have come here to wait for me.’


‘No, she’s not here.’ Gildo’s impatience grew now. How was it possible to lose sight of someone you were with? He was hungry and just wanted to get going.


‘I’ll go back and look for her,’ Eliana said. ‘You wait here. I’ll find her and we’ll come back.’


Even then Gildo had what he would call, years later, a ‘subtle worry’. He switched on the TV but didn’t really watch it. Elisa could be a bit dizzy sometimes but she was always reliable. She knew they were all due to go to lunch in the countryside. It wasn’t like her to keep everyone waiting. He waited in the flat for almost half an hour, getting increasingly frustrated. By one o’clock he was properly worried. He decided to go out and walked down the six flights of stairs to the street. For half an hour he waited on Via Mazzini, looking left and right in the hope that he would see Elisa. Friends walked by and said hello, but he barely replied. Every time someone came into view, he would scrutinise them from afar, hoping that the distant figure would turn into his sister. It never did. Eventually one of his oldest friends, Cesare, came by, and together they walked up the thin steps of Via IV Novembre and, reaching the top, split up, walking along parallel streets.


Gildo wandered towards the Chiesa della Santissima Trinità, but it was locked. Over the next quarter of an hour the central street and its side alleys began to empty as people slowly made their way home for lunch. For the first time Gildo’s apprehension gave way to a mild terror. Everything seemed so normal, but he knew something wasn’t right. It was so unlike Elisa to mess them around. The relaxed Sunday morning crowds were almost all gone now, and Elisa wasn’t with them.


By then it was gone two o’clock, and Gildo walked back home, desperately hoping that Elisa was there. Just beyond the entrance to the Clapses’ block of flats he saw Eliana, Elisa’s friend, by a phone box. By now Gildo was acutely concerned and was quite aggressive in demanding from the evasive Eliana the truth. She reiterated what she had already told him, that the two of them had lost sight of each other on leaving the church. Gildo was unconvinced but told her to go and wait upstairs in the flat in case Elisa returned. Meanwhile, many of his closest friends were gathering to help organise a search party.




*





Back at the country house in Tito, Antonio, Filomena and Luciano are getting irritated. It’s well past two o’clock, and Gildo and Elisa haven’t shown up. A phone hasn’t yet been installed in the house and so they can’t even call to ask why there’s such a delay. Everyone is hungry and feeling peeved. The table is laid, the jugs are full. Everything is ready. It was ready over an hour ago. The food’s overdone now, it’s going dry. Eventually they decide there’s only one thing for it: to abandon the table and the food and head home, back to the city.


‘I’m sure everything’s fine,’ they say to each other. ‘Gildo probably lost the car keys.’ But despite the reassurances they give each other, they sense something’s not right. Gildo and Elisa are, if not always punctual, certainly responsible. They wouldn’t just not show up for a family meal. Antonio drives fast, feeling fear but trying to disguise it for the sake of his wife. The three in the car start thinking silently about all the possible reasons for the delay, their minds moving as fast as the car, careering from one unpleasant thought to another. Perhaps one of them had fallen and broken something. Maybe they had been involved in a crash. Nothing they imagined, though, nothing they thought, could ever have been as terrible as the reality they were about to go through. And not only the reality, but the lack of reality, the absence of answers. Little did they know, as they drove back to Potenza, that thinking and fearing the worst was to become habitual, a state of mind, a way to try and guess what might have happened to young Elisa.




*





There was something shifty or evasive about Eliana that Gildo didn’t trust. She wasn’t, he felt sure, telling him the whole story. He went back upstairs, now in a fury, and as soon as Eliana opened the door he forcefully asked her to tell the truth.


‘Where’s Elisa?’ he almost shouted.


The young girl began to stutter.


Gildo pushed home the advantage. ‘Tell me the truth: where is she? What happened?’


Eliana didn’t look at him but at her shoes. She confessed quietly that they had never gone to Mass together, but that Elisa had an appointment with Danilo Restivo that morning at the Chiesa della Santissima Trinità. He had, she said, wanted to give Elisa a present for passing her retakes.


‘We were supposed to meet up after a quarter of an hour in the piazza,’ she said, her voice quivering now. ‘I went to the piazza but she never turned up. So I went to the church and she wasn’t there either. That’s why I thought she was here, with you.’


Gildo continued to shout questions at her, but she was on the brink of tears and kept repeating the same thing – ‘I went to the piazza but she never turned up.’


He stared at her with disdain. She should have said all this over an hour ago. His apprehension was now on the cusp of panic. He knew the name Danilo Restivo. He was a vague friend of Luciano’s, one of those people you often saw in and around Via Pretoria. Now that he thought about it, Gildo had heard his sister talking to him on the phone the previous evening, presumably making plans for this morning’s appointment. There was something not right about Restivo, something decidedly strange. He was the butt of jokes and had to try hard to be accepted. He had a soft, almost feminine voice and the kind of manner that suggested he was always gentle and solicitous. He had bushy dark hair, thick lips and rather bulbous eyes behind his glasses. There was something unnerving about him, especially since he had been insistently courting Elisa for a while. He had even bumped into them, Gildo and Elisa, on holiday a few months ago, in Montegiordano. Elisa had hung on tightly to her brother back then, apparently fed up that a man who was pestering her in Potenza had even followed her to Calabria. Gildo had wanted to get rid of him, but Elisa had felt sorry for him, saying he was just a hanger-on who did no harm. She asked Gildo to let it go.


Gildo was very worried now. He began to ask question after question, angry that his little sister’s friend had lied about what they were doing. Hunger and fear were getting the better of him as he aggressively tried to get all the information he could out of this worried teenager.


‘I just walked her to the church,’ she said, beginning to cry. ‘I just walked her there, that was all.’


Gildo went to find the phone book and flicked furiously through the pages until he got to the surname Restivo. He picked up the phone and, when it was answered, asked for Danilo. Shortly afterwards, he recognised Danilo’s sing-song voice.


‘Where’s Elisa, what’s happened to her?’ Gildo asked immediately.


Restivo stuttered. ‘We met in front of the Trinità,’ he said. ‘We went in and sat behind the altar and chatted. We were there for little more than a quarter of an hour and then we said goodbye and Elisa got up to leave. I stayed for a while to pray.’


Gildo kept asking questions, and Restivo confessed that Elisa seemed troubled. She had said that a man had harassed her that morning.


‘What do you mean “harassed”?’


Gildo heard a voice on the other end of the line, someone demanding to have the phone: ‘Give it to me.’ Then there was silence for a few seconds until a deeper, sterner voice came on. ‘We’re having lunch and my son has already told you everything he knows.’ The line went dead. The father had hung up.


Years later, Gildo would write that it was at that exact moment that he knew something had happened to Elisa. ‘I felt’, he wrote, reflecting on that instant in his own memoir, ‘a strong pain in my stomach, and then a sense of emptiness, of absence … a sombre malaise.’


At around three o’clock, another of Elisa’s friends arrived. Angelica was one of Elisa’s closest friends. Their mothers were colleagues at the land registry office. Angelica tried to reassure Gildo, and together they decided to call all Elisa’s friends. They put her diaries and notebooks on the living-room table and called them one by one. Angelica called Luca, an ex-boyfriend of Elisa’s, a young man from Sicily who had been doing military service in Potenza. Luca had returned to Capaci at the conclusion of his posting and the relationship had finished, but the two had remained close friends. He hadn’t, he said, seen or heard from Elisa. Slowly Gildo and Angelica went through the names and numbers one by one, methodically phoning and getting the same questions and concern from those who answered. Angelica also phoned Danilo Restivo. He had had a brief chat with Elisa, he said. He had wanted to ask her advice about what to do about a girl he liked but who didn’t reciprocate his affections. He wasn’t sure whether to pursue it or let it lie. Having told him to let it go so he and the girl could stay friends, Elisa had gone off, he said, and he had remained there to pray.


As soon as Antonio and Filomena walked through the door they knew something was seriously wrong. They saw Elisa’s things all over the table, and one look at Gildo’s stony face was enough.


‘Elisa’s missing,’ was all he said.


The questions came thick and fast, and he answered them as quickly as possible. He told them everything about the last few hours, relieved to be able to share things with them but horrified by the devastating effect on his parents. His father was frowning, staring at the carpet as if he hadn’t understood. His mother was repeating prayers and imprecations and her beloved daughter’s name.


‘I’m going round to Restivo’s house,’ Luciano said. He looked at everyone to see if they approved, and they nodded, knowing it was the logical thing to do. Luciano picked up his keys and headed out.
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That Sunday is the saint’s day of Danilo Restivo’s mother. The family have organised a large lunch to mark the occasion, but Danilo is very late. No one knows where he is. His sister, Anna, goes downstairs to look for him and then doesn’t come back. Eventually they both turn up, very late for the lunch, with Anna’s boyfriend, Giovanni. They explain that they’ve been to hospital for a little cut on Danilo’s hand. He has a single stitch in the wound.


They finally sit down for lunch shortly after two o’clock, but it’s not a peaceful meal. The phone keeps ringing. First Gildo calls, demanding to speak to Danilo. Some friends of a young girl called Elisa keep calling, wanting to speak to Danilo too. Then a man rings the buzzer and asks to see Danilo. His father realises something is wrong and knows, though he barely admits it consciously, that his son is in trouble.


When his son comes back to the flat, his father stands up from the table. Maurizio Restivo is a large man with a jowly, heavy face. He’s the director of the Potenza branch of the National Library, a slightly austere, cerebral and intimidating man.


‘Come here,’ he says sternly.


Danilo follows his father into his study. Maurizio knows his odd son. He knows he lies and fantasises, that he does odd things for which there’s no rational explanation. But he knows his weak spots. He probes and coaxes and questions, sometimes raising his voice or, something Danilo finds even more worrying, whispering quietly. Nobody other than father and son will ever know what was said in that room in those frantic few hours after Elisa’s disappearance. But from it Danilo emerges calmer. He seems more at ease. The next time Luciano rings the buzzer, wanting more information and clarity about the morning’s events, he finds Danilo almost normal: no longer sweating and shaking, but once again himself, his soft voice and spooky smile the same as ever.
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When Luciano returned to the Claps home half an hour later he only increased the concern.


‘He’s lying,’ Luciano said. ‘They saw each other, but Restivo’s telling a load of bullshit. He must have done something to her, I’m sure of it.’


Luciano said that Danilo had been highly agitated, sweating heavily. He had replied to all of Luciano’s questions with uncertainty and hesitation. He had had a large plaster on the back of his hand. When Luciano had asked what had happened, Danilo had stuttered, embarrassed. He had said that after seeing Elisa, he had gone to a building site where they were building escalators to help pedestrians up to the city centre. He had slipped and got a cut on his hand, so he had gone to hospital. It all sounded, to say the least, suspicious.


The four family members looked at each other and then stared vacantly at the floor. They didn’t trust Restivo at all. They knew about his reputation, and the wound on his hand only made them more suspicious. If he had been wounded, they wondered what Elisa might have suffered. Desperation was beginning to sink in. The brothers felt impotent. Restivo was the son of a powerful Sicilian, a man who was part of the Potenza bene, the great and good of the city. They were just the children of a humble tobacconist. The Restivo family seemed to realise the gulf in social standing between them and was treating their despair with contempt.


Antonio was pacing up and down. There must be a rational explanation, he hoped. Teenage girls could be unpredictable. She must have gone off somewhere. She would reappear any minute, and they would all be surprised and amused by their unnecessary terror. There wasn’t anything to worry about, he told himself and his wife. But he was worried. Elisa wasn’t unpredictable. She was thoughtful and reliable. She would never have gone off without saying anything.


The atmosphere was horribly surreal. The Claps family was surrounded by normality, but nothing felt normal any more. There was an emptiness, an absence at the heart of the home, as if their most precious possession, their daughter and sister, had been stolen. As the hours went by, the reassurances they offered each other were beginning to sound hollow. They all knew something was terribly wrong. Gildo and Luciano phoned as many friends as possible, persuading them to scour the city centre, to ask questions of everyone they met. Filomena was almost catatonic, rocking backwards and forwards in her chair repeating one sentence: ‘Mia figlia non torna più’ – ‘My daughter’s not coming home.’


In the early evening that same day, Gildo and Luciano decide to go and see Restivo again. They ring the intercom at the bottom of his block of flats, but his parents inform them that Danilo has already left the city. He had to go to Naples to take an entrance exam for a dentistry course. There’s a click over the intercom as once again the line is closed. It was as if doors were already being slammed in their faces.


Gildo and his father went to the police station to report Elisa as missing. At the reception there was a bored official. It was a sleepy Sunday evening, and in this small, provincial city nothing ever happened. Father and son were ushered into another room and eventually another official came in and took down a few details. A typewriter rattled away as the bare facts of Elisa’s appearance and date of birth were recorded. The official tore out the piece of paper and asked them to sign it. That was the extent of the investigative procedure. It wasn’t the calm objectivity of the professional, they felt, but the begrudging going-through-the-motions of a snooty bureaucrat who resented the disturbance. There was no sense of urgency, no notion that the situation called for decisive action.


On leaving the police station Gildo could see that his father was broken-hearted. Years later, he would write that his father ‘was coming round to the knowledge that a tragedy had taken place, and that knowledge would in the course of the years fold and smash his spirit to the point that he would refuse the memory itself of what had happened that day’. All the family were bewildered, but Antonio, more than any of them, was already beginning to lose not only his daughter, but also a part of himself and his own sanity.


Gildo escorted his father home and then decided to go, with his friend Cesare, to the Chiesa della Santissima Trinità. When they got there they were told that the priest in charge of the church, Don Mimì, had also left the city that afternoon. He had gone for a retreat to the spa town of Fiuggi. He wouldn’t be back for a few days. The two friends wandered around the empty church, looking for any sign of Elisa. It was cool and quiet in there, the empty pews and echoing footsteps only increasing the emptiness Gildo felt. He tried to open a small door, but it was locked. He was told that in Don Mimì’s absence, the upper storeys of the church were inaccessible.


As he was approaching his home, Gildo saw groups of people standing outside the front door. A young girl walked up to him, looking determined.


‘I’m Danilo’s sister,’ she said aggressively. ‘People are saying strange things about my brother. He hasn’t done anything.’


‘He hasn’t told the truth,’ Gildo said coolly. ‘He saw my sister this morning, and she hasn’t been seen since.’


The young girl tried to interrupt him, but Gildo demanded Danilo’s number in Naples.


‘There isn’t a phone line there,’ she said, ‘and anyway he needs to study. He’s got an exam tomorrow.’


‘I want to know what’s happened to my sister,’ Gildo said, allowing hours of tension to spill over as he grabbed the girl’s wrist.


‘My brother hasn’t done anything,’ she said, pulling her arm away and walking off.


Gildo watched her, amazed again at the way in which people seemed more concerned about their reputations than the truth. Within hours of Elisa’s disappearance, it was as if her desperate family were being treated as a nuisance, as trouble-makers who were disturbing the peace of this sleepy province. Phones were put down; doors were slammed. Arrogant officials were nonplussed.


He decided to go back to the Questura, the police station. He was told to wait upstairs as the flying squad was now in charge. For almost three hours he was subjected to a cross-examination, having to answer questions about his family, his sister, her habits, her friends, her relationships, her secrets. Every minor detail of the family’s life was probed. It was as if the entirety of the feeble investigation was centred on the Claps family, as if they were somehow responsible for the disappearance of Elisa. Gildo became increasingly angry, constantly trying to persuade the official that it was necessary to contact Danilo Restivo in Naples and cross-examine him. The official smiled patronisingly and continued his only line of enquiry, asking for more details about Elisa, about her parents and her brothers.


The coolness of the officer irritated Gildo. He asked impertinent questions calmly, repeatedly going over what Elisa was wearing, what she was like.


‘Go and interrogate Restivo, Danilo Restivo,’ Gildo urged frantically. ‘He was with her. He’s unstable. Everyone knows he’s not right in the head. He’s even got a cut on his hand. Go and talk to Restivo.’


The officer listened and took notes. His manner was calculated to exude authority and gravitas. The officer and his superiors would decide who to interrogate. They were never bounced into decisions by frantic relatives.


‘You need to get hold of Restivo.’ Gildo could barely contain himself. ‘He saw her last.’


‘No urgency,’ the official said calmly. ‘When the magistrate has been appointed, they’ll consider the question of this Restivo.’


By the time Gildo emerged it was dark. He realised with horror that his sister wouldn’t be coming home that night. He spent the whole night wandering around the city with Luciano and their friends. He felt like his strength had been sapped. It was cold now and the only people he saw were other friends in the search party, slowly driving around the city or else walking its side streets, looking in every corner and back alley. Each time they came across each other they pursed their lips, shaking their heads silently to say there was no news, no sighting. Occasionally one of them would say one word to the other: ‘Niente.’ That was all. ‘Niente’ – ‘Nothing.’


‘Nothing becomes even worse than terrible news,’ Federica Sciarelli wrote years later. She’s the host of Chi l’ha visto?, an Italian programme about missing persons. ‘Because nothing accompanies you everywhere, day after day, month after month, year after year. You keep going, sure, but with a boulder that weighs on all the body, on the heart, on the head, even on the muscles. You keep going, but nothing is ever the same.’


The phone at the Clapses’ home kept ringing, and every time it rang there was tension and a tiny slice of hope. ‘Maybe that will be her calling now,’ Filomena thought. ‘Maybe they’ve discovered something terrible.’ Usually it was just a friend asking if Elisa was back yet, if there was anything they could do. Journalists called for quotes and information. There was so much bustle and disturbance, but at the centre there was just a hole.


That night the family experienced something that would recur often over the following months. The telephone would ring and everyone would look at it, hoping that it would bring good news or, failing that, at least news. But all evening and throughout the night they would answer the phone, and at the other end there would simply be a long silence.


‘Pronto,’ Filomena would say. ‘Pronto. Chi è?’


Nothing. They hoped these silent calls might be a reason for hope, perhaps someone who had news but was too scared to share it. But over the following months, as those terrible, toying phone calls continued, that hope was replaced by frustration. Whoever was calling seemed to be relishing their pain and desperation.


None of the family wanted to go to bed that night. There was no point trying to relax or to sleep. It was impossible and pointless. Eventually the phone stopped ringing. The lights of the city were slowly going off. The first of many long, dark nights for the Claps family had begun. Nobody slept. There was a terrible feeling of impotence: the sense that there was nothing they could do to help Elisa. All four of them felt that it was possibly already too late. They didn’t say so; they spoke to each other about not giving up hope, about doing everything possible to bring her home. But they knew now that she was in very serious trouble, if, indeed, she was even alive. And there was nothing they could do.


Filomena, in particular, feared the worst. She felt sure that something terrible had happened, that her beloved daughter had been done in. There was no other explanation. Everything about Restivo was suspicious and shifty. Everyone knew his reputation. He had that cut on his hand and had come out with the ridiculous explanation that he had fallen down an escalator. ‘Quel fetente,’ she says to herself. ‘That skunk.’
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The following day, Monday, brought no good news. Luciano went to a friend who owned a printer’s and together they ran off hundreds of posters with Elisa’s face and, underneath, a plea for information. He and his friends began to put them up all over the city, at bus stops and at the railway station. Gildo, meanwhile, picked up Elisa’s diaries and notebooks. He paused briefly, looking at them wistfully: he didn’t want to rifle through her private possessions, but he didn’t want, either, to miss any vital hint about what might have been going on in her life. He sat down and slowly started to turn the densely written pages. It was too much for him. The tension and lack of sleep suddenly overwhelmed him and he sobbed silently as he looked at the innocent, sentimental pages. There were two pages Elisa had written about splitting up with her Sicilian boyfriend Luca. Then, suddenly, Gildo saw something that caught his attention. It was a reference to Danilo.


‘This evening,’ the diary said, ‘he stopped me again in Via Pretoria. I tried to avoid him but as always he stuck to me; the others had suggested I shouldn’t get too close to him but at the end of the day I’m sorry, he’s a bit strange and I always see him on his own. I walked around with him a couple of times and then left him with some excuse …’ Gildo stared at the page, certain now that Danilo Restivo was the key to unlocking the whole case. He remembered that Danilo had called Elisa the evening before she went missing, on the Saturday. Eliana had said yesterday that Danilo wanted to give Elisa a present for passing her retakes. That was the reason Danilo had called and the reason he had wanted to meet up with Elisa.


But just as Gildo was thinking about Danilo Restivo, another strange personality entered the story. Angelica, Elisa’s friend, said that she had something to tell him, something she had been thinking about because it seemed odd.


‘Go on,’ Gildo said, clutching at any straw he could.


Angelica said she’d been phoning everyone she had seen in the city centre yesterday, everyone she had glimpsed in and around the church where Elisa had met Danilo Restivo. She had remembered seeing a young man, an Albanian called Eris Gega. He was one of the people she and Elisa used to see around the place. They had originally met at a church summer camp. He was a bit older than them, twenty, she thought. Angelica remembered he had been wearing a short-sleeved, light-coloured shirt and greenish trousers.


By now Angelica had made dozens of hopeless phone calls, but she decided to make one more. When she eventually got hold of Eris, she told him why she was calling.


‘You’ve heard about Elisa?’ she asked. ‘She’s been missing since yesterday.’


‘I know,’ he said.


‘I just wondered if you had heard from her or seen her.’


‘Why would I?’ he said defensively.


‘I saw you in the piazza yesterday morning. I just wondered if you had seen anything.’


‘I wasn’t in the piazza yesterday.’


Angelica shut her eyes briefly, trying to recollect exactly what she saw. ‘I thought you were there with Marco …’


‘No, not yesterday.’


Angelica said goodbye and stared at the phone for a second. She was sure she had seen him. It was strange that he should immediately deny it. It wasn’t as if he could have forgotten what he was doing only yesterday. She went and told Gildo, who immediately called the flying squad to inform them of the discrepancy.


That afternoon the whole Claps family was summoned back to the Questura. What they were told shocked them. The official in charge said that their haste in covering the city with posters and fliers, along with the appeals they had organised on a local TV channel, made them objects of suspicion. The family, they were told, were clearly trying to deflect attention away from themselves and must know more than they had so far let on. They were told to sign another statement and ushered out by a dismissive official.


At the same time, Danilo Restivo was returning from his entrance exam in Naples. He was on the bus that meandered through Campania and Basilicata and back home. At the penultimate stop, just before the bus arrived in Potenza city centre, he saw his father standing by his car with another man. They beckoned him to get off the bus. They were gesturing quickly, as if he should get off before the bus pulled away. Danilo grabbed his bag, walked to the front of the bus and down the stairs.


His father was looking like he meant business. Danilo was slightly scared of him. He didn’t know what he and this man were doing here, waiting for him.


‘Get in,’ his father said gruffly, holding open the door to his car.


Danilo got into the car, putting his bag on the seat beside him. The other man got into the front seat beside his father and turned round to talk to Danilo in the back seat.


‘Danilo,’ he said, ‘I’m a lawyer. The authorities are waiting at the end of the bus line to take you in for questioning. Your father and I thought it wise to take you there ourselves, to have a little chat about what happened yesterday.’


The young man nodded, not sure what to say.


‘So, what happened?’ the lawyer asked.


Restivo repeated the story he had told the previous day. That he had met Elisa at the church and that she had left after about ten minutes or a quarter of an hour. He had wanted to see her because he wanted to ask about a friend of hers, Paola, a girl that he liked but who wasn’t keen on him. He didn’t know what to do, whether to pursue it or let it drop. Elisa suggested he let it go, that he shouldn’t ruin the friendship with Paola. He also said that he noticed that ‘Elisa was worried, and I don’t remember in what context she told me that she had been hassled by a man that morning.’ He had stayed in there for ten minutes to pray, he said, and then went over to another church, San Michele, to look for friends. But he didn’t see anyone and walked home towards his parents’ flat in Viale Marconi, near the football stadium. He had taken a strange route, going via the escalators that were under construction between Via Dante and Piazza XVIII Agosto. He had fallen over and hurt his hand, his arm and his hip. He wrapped his injured hand in his jacket and went home. There his sister Anna and her boyfriend, Giovanni, saw him and he showed them the injury. The cut didn’t seem too serious, but Anna suggested he go to hospital to get it cleaned up. The three of them got in Giovanni’s Fiat Panda and went to the San Carlo hospital. They had to wait for half an hour and it was almost two before a doctor put a single stitch in his hand.


The lawyer nodded, looking briefly at Restivo’s father for confirmation. They asked him question after question, trying to fix in his mind the details, probing for inaccuracies or inconsistencies. Eventually they drove him to the Questura, where Danilo was questioned by an inspector, Vito Eufemia.


Years later, Eufemia would recall that Restivo appeared ‘prepared, cool, very cunning, precise in his answers’. Restivo was questioned again and again about his exact movements the previous day, and his story never changed. He repeated what he had told Luciano, and his father, and his father’s lawyer. Every detail was the same, only each time that he told the story he added little facts, embellishments and clarifications. The inspector was sufficiently suspicious about the story to insist that Restivo accompany the officials to the escalators to demonstrate exactly where and how he had fallen. Restivo took them there and insisted that he had fallen the entire length of the staircase, falling head over heels until he came to rest head first on the level landing below. He had covered his teeth and stomach as he was falling, which was how, he said, a small piece of sheet metal became lodged in his left hand. His glasses were entirely undamaged, even though they were left halfway up the staircase. Asked why he had gone there at all, he said he was curious, that he considered the escalators a fascinating feat of engineering. In fact, he had been there just a few days before with a young woman, Paola (something she subsequently denied had ever happened).


In compiling his report, Eufemia would write that Restivo’s version of events was ‘extremely unlikely’; he wrote of its ‘unreliability’, adding that the whole reconstruction was ‘unimaginable’. ‘It clearly emerges that the witness isn’t to be considered credible, which could hint at facts much more serious that would see him directly involved in the disappearance of Elisa Claps.’


Back at the Questura, Eufemia asked Maurizio Restivo, Danilo’s father, if he would hand in the clothes – the jacket and jeans – that his son had been wearing the previous day. Restivo consented, saying that he would accompany Eufemia to his house to pick up the clothes. Restivo, his wife and Inspector Eufemia walked down to their respective cars. Eufemia overheard Restivo’s wife telling her husband that their son’s clothes had already been washed and were drying on the balcony.


Once at the Restivo household, Restivo’s parents handed over various clothes.


‘I’ll also need’, Eufemia said firmly, ‘the clothes that are drying on the balcony.’


‘Eh?’


‘The clothes on the balcony … I’ll require those as well.’


‘Indeed,’ said Maurizio Restivo, fixing the inspector with his dark eyes. ‘One minute.’


Restivo walked inside and called his lawyer, Mario Marinelli. Eufemia, standing in the doorway with two colleagues, couldn’t hear the words, only the sound of Maurizio’s low, languid voice. The man came back towards them a couple of minutes later.


‘You have a search warrant, of course?’


‘I understood you had consented to hand over the clothes. There was no need.’


‘There is now.’ Restivo was firm, his jowly face looking at the impertinent inspector with contempt.


Eufemia was taken aback. Restivo had appeared happy to collaborate, but suddenly, when specific clothes were asked for, he had insisted on a search warrant. It was demanding behaviour for a man who apparently had nothing to hide.


‘Very well, I’ll make a call.’ Eufemia walked down the steps and phoned his boss, the head of the flying squad, Luigi Grimaldi. Grimaldi told him to wait there, that he would get the necessary warrant signed by a magistrate. Eufemia waited, still wondering why Maurizio Restivo had appeared so co-operative only to become so obstructive. Twenty minutes later, Grimaldi called Eufemia and ordered him to return to the Questura. The two had a brief, heated discussion. Eufemia couldn’t understand why Danilo’s clothes, clothes that he admitted had blood on them from his small cut, weren’t going to be sequestered. He went back upstairs to summon his two colleagues and returned to base empty-handed.


At 22.30 that evening, Eliana De Cillis made a statement about the events of the previous day. She reaffirmed everything she told Gildo about Elisa’s meeting with Restivo. Pressed about the relationship between Elisa and Danilo, Eliana said: ‘Elisa had known Danilo Restivo for a couple of years. He was courting her but she wasn’t interested and so sometimes kept him at a distance. He was insistent, though, phoning her and asking her to go out.’ Elisa, she added, ‘had never confided to me any notion about leaving home or any other irrational gesture … she was tranquil and never showed any problems with her family’.
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It was another surreal night for the Claps family, their second without Elisa. No one could sleep properly, if at all. It just seemed impossible, unbelievable that something like this was happening to them. They walked through the dark house in a daze, nibbling on any food they could find and making cups of coffee.


They veered between activity and paralysis, between trying to do something useful and feeling that everything was useless. There was nothing they could do. But they had to do something. Filomena prayed, raising her palms to the ceiling and slapping her hands on her forehead in anguish. As soon as daylight came, Gildo and Luciano tried to find the energy to make phone calls, to talk to people, to question them. They were walking the streets, putting up posters, fielding questions from journalists and investigators. Gildo went back to the Questura to hear about the previous evening’s interrogation of Restivo, but was told little other than generic details.


Their father wanted to go after Danilo. That was the only useful thing to do, he insisted. Danilo had to pay for what he had done. They all knew by now that, almost certainly, Elisa wasn’t coming home. At least not alive. And Danilo, they felt sure, knew why. Antonio had thought about little else for the last few hours. All he could think about was forcing the information out of that idiot or, failing that, exacting revenge. He wanted to go after Restivo as soon as possible. That was the only justice for his daughter. Restivo had to pay, to pay the highest price. Elisa had been his little girl. His precious, only daughter. She had always been a daddy’s girl, going to him when she had fallen over or was hurt. They were inseparable. He was strict, it was true, but she had always melted his heart. In recent years she had become a young woman; she was beyond that age of sitting on his lap to be tickled. But the deep, deep bond was still there. And now he felt as if his insides had been ripped out. There was a terrible emptiness in the home, in him. And Restivo, he knew, was responsible.


‘Where does he live, then, this bastard?’ Antonio asked.


‘Who?’ The brothers stalled. They knew precisely who he meant.


Antonio just looked at them. He knew that they knew. ‘Where is he?’


The conversation was interrupted by the telephone ringing. Everything stopped each time it rang. They all looked at it, then Gildo walked over and picked it up. It was the Tribunale dei Minori, requesting to see Elisa’s parents as soon as possible. Filomena and Antonio put on shoes and tried to make themselves look presentable. When Filomena glanced briefly in the mirror, she saw that her face betrayed her terrible exhaustion.


When they came back shortly afterwards, however, they were almost clinging onto each other, visibly distraught. They slumped down on the sofa in the living room and quickly gave their sons an outline of what they had heard.


‘He’s got a record,’ Antonio said, his stare lost in the far distance.


‘Who? Restivo?’


The parents nodded. ‘Back in May 1986, he blindfolded two children and tied their hands behind their backs. They were only twelve and fourteen. He said he had a surprise for them and took them to a hideout he had. There he put on surgical gloves and cut the younger boy’s neck with a bread knife and then locked them both in the shack. The boy had to have a couple of stitches in hospital.’


‘Was he arrested?’


Both parents shook their heads. ‘The incident was reported, but the children and their families dropped all the charges. Apparently Restivo’s father paid them a million lire to forget about it.’


‘What’s he going to offer us?’ Gildo said bitterly under his breath.


The more facts the family gleaned, the more they became convinced that their initial suspicions were correct, and that Danilo Restivo was responsible for Elisa’s disappearance. But each time they felt sure of it, there was always something that planted a seed of doubt, that made them consider the tiny possibility that, actually, something completely different had happened. That evening, as they were fretting about the track record of Restivo, the phone rang. As always, everyone stopped, hearing the rings and praying that it was good news. Gildo’s aunt, Rosetta, answered.


‘No,’ she said with a solemn voice that made the family listen, ‘no, I’m not the mother, I’m Elisa’s aunt.’


Rosetta twisted the phone away from her ear so that everyone could hear the voice. ‘I’m from Montalto Uffugo. Elisa is here with us. She’s well and you don’t need to worry.’


‘Let me speak with her, put her on please.’


‘That’s not possible, signora. At the moment she’s not very well and she can’t come to the phone. We’ll call tomorrow evening at the same time. We want to speak to her father.’


The line went dead. Nobody spoke for a long time. There was the faintest hope that Elisa was alive. Perhaps not well, perhaps not even free, but at least alive. One or two of the family dared to hope that it was true.


There were, after all, other reasons to hope. At 23.30 on the Monday after Elisa had gone missing, the police interviewed a young man who lived in the same block of flats as the Claps family. Giuseppe Carlone claims that he saw her at 13.40 on the Sunday in front of the cinema Ariston in Via IV Novembre, that thin staircase that leads up to the city centre from the Clapses’ block of flats in Via Mazzini. Carlone is convinced that he saw Elisa. He describes her as wearing blue trousers and a white top. Carlone says he was walking towards his home and that he walked past Elisa, said hello, but got no reply. He got home at exactly 13.45, so he thinks he must have seen Elisa five minutes previously.


Gildo is unconvinced. He was on precisely that staircase between 13.30 and 13.50 and he saw neither Carlone nor Elisa. Carlone was adamant that it was that same Sunday, that he had even been to Mass in the Chiesa della Santissima Trinità, staying there until around 13.00, but that he hadn’t seen either Elisa or Danilo there. But he had seen Elisa, he said, on Via IV Novembre. Another young man, Massimiliano Carlucci, thought he saw her in the central Via Pretoria at around 12.40.


Various other people came forward, convinced they had seen Elisa long after she must have left the church. Adelaide Masella, a friend of Elisa’s, is sure she saw both Elisa and Eliana in Via Mazzini soon after 12.30. Adelaide had been in a car with her sister and mother when the traffic forced them to stop exactly outside number 69, the Clapses’ block. Adelaide described in precise detail what both girls were wearing: Elisa, she says, ‘was wearing a pair of dark trousers tending towards blue, a pink top tending towards white, with a wide collar and three-quarter sleeves. She had a light pink key ring with a slightly darker border that she was playing with.’


Eliana, she said, was sitting astride her Piaggio moped. ‘It was electric blue or black, a dark colour.’ The details Adelaide was able to provide seemed precise and credible: Eliana ‘held the moped in balance with both feet resting on the ground, keeping her hands on the handlebars. On her right arm she had a white-coloured helmet held upside down.’ The trouble was that if Adelaide was right, Eliana must have been lying: she was adamant that she hadn’t seen Elisa since they had separated at 11.30.


Investigators didn’t know what to believe, who to trust. Elisa’s friends seem to have seen her everywhere: in Via Pretoria, in Via IV Novembre, in Via Mazzini. None of the times appear to co incide, to make any sense. And no one seems to have seen Elisa at the one place she was supposed to have been: in the church itself. Some of her friends might have made an innocent mistake, thinking they had seen her when it was just another young girl with dark hair. But others, the investigators felt, were obtuse or misleading. From those very first, vital few days the investigation was hampered by misinformation, by accidental and wilful lies. The investigation had no clarity, no direction, no certainties. And there was no explanation of why Eliana De Cillis had, as she confessed days later, Elisa’s key. Elisa, she said, had given it to her, but it seemed highly improbable: Elisa always kept the single key in her pocket.


The night after the mysterious phone call claiming that Elisa was alive but unwell, the family gathered around the phone. They were all waiting for it to ring, for that same, unknown voice from Montalto Uffugo to call back.


The phone did ring a few times, but it was never that same voice. There was no call from any kidnappers or any demands for a ransom. The call they longed for simply didn’t come. It almost felt as if some people were deliberately trying to add to the sense of mystery, as if some citizens enjoyed stoking the suspense and disorientation caused by a missing sixteen-year-old. Just a few days after Elisa disappeared, some spooky graffiti was written on a wall in the city’s Montereale Park: ‘I had a cat, she was called Alice, she sang too much so I killed her. Elisa I’ve buried with a stone on top. I have only my cat on my conscience. Where’s Elisa?’


It sometimes seemed as if people were using the horror of a missing teenager to settle scores and incriminate enemies. Witnesses came forward to point fingers, sending investigators off on futile, false leads. Tip-offs arrived from all over Italy – from Seregno, Vaglio and Brindisi – but none of them proved reliable or fruitful. A young woman called Elisabetta Postiglione came forward three days after the disappearance claiming that she had seen two men abducting Elisa, forcing her to get into a red Renault 5. One assumption, recurrent throughout the ensuing years, was that Elisa had been abducted in order to be forced into prostitution. Elisabetta draws sketches of the two men in question, but a week later withdraws her statement in its entirety. No one understands the motivation for the initial declaration or the retraction. Four years later, Elisabetta is discovered in Puglia, a prostitute under the control of Albanian pimps.


Just as the Claps family were dealing not only with Elisa’s absence, but also with the endless leads and false dawns, Luciano received his call-up for military service. He was going to be posted in Persano, about sixty miles from Potenza. Gildo was distraught: having apparently lost his sister, he now had to do without his younger brother, just when he needed him. Gildo drove Luciano to the barracks, and the two spoke at length about Elisa and their parents. They were both worried about their father. He was beginning to seem distracted, almost in denial. He had initially wanted to deal with Danilo Restivo himself, but having been stopped by his family, he had increasingly retreated into his shell. He seemed suddenly aged and weighed down, almost immobilised by the futility of all their efforts. Filomena, their mother, was by contrast suddenly feisty, full of fury and energy and determination. Gildo hugged Luciano outside the barracks and then got back in the car for the lonely journey home. From now on, Gildo and Filomena would front the fight for justice.




*





Part of the difficulty, for both the investigators and the Claps family, was the lack of reliable information. It was impossible to know who was telling the truth because there was so much contradictory information, if not deliberate lies. Eliana had mentioned to investigators the name of a young man that Elisa had been spending time with recently, an Albanian called Eris Gega. She claimed the two liked each other, and Eliana said that Eris had been in the Piazza della Prefettura at 13.30 that Sunday. Eris was originally from Durazzo, in Albania, and following the collapse of communism was one of many Albanians who came to Italy in the early 1990s looking for a better life. Eris had arrived in Potenza in June 1991 with his parents, being put up by the city council first in a hotel, the Miramonti, and then in a prefab in a suburb called Bucaletto. He had worked as an apprentice mechanic for a while before heading to Bologna briefly. On returning to Potenza in the spring of 1993, he had met Elisa in a parish camp. He had liked her and had wanted to go out with her, but she had told him she had a boyfriend, the Sicilian Luca.


Like so many other witnesses and suspects, Eris Gega consistently fails to give a convincing account of what he was doing on the Sunday Elisa went missing. He contradicts himself, changes his story and gets confused. When he’s first questioned, on 22 September, he claims that he never left Bucaletto all day. He hung around a nearby church in his suburb until 12.30, went home and had lunch, and stayed in until around 18.00. While he was at home having lunch, he claims to have received a call from one of Elisa’s friends, asking if he had seen her. He was questioned again on 11 October and 3 December, when he names the friends he was with that Sunday. He refers to a wedding that took place in the church in the suburbs.


But when the authorities check with the friends he names, all of them say he wasn’t in Bucaletto, that they saw him in the centre of Potenza, near a telephone box at midday, ‘as if he were waiting for someone’. Both Elisa’s friend Angelica and her boyfriend, Vincenzo, claim to have seen him there, near the phone box, between 12.00 and 12.30. So too does Eliana De Cillis. Many others claim to have seen him at a vintage-car show in the centre that day, and it emerges that the wedding he claims to have attended in the suburbs happened the Saturday prior to Elisa’s disappearance. The phone call from Elisa’s friend Angelica wasn’t, as Eris claimed, at lunchtime but towards the evening.


It’s clear that Eris, too, had repeatedly changed his story regarding his whereabouts. Investigators are unsure why he would continually make up unreliable stories. A young, vulnerable immigrant, he may simply have been wary of being dragged into a case that was increasingly dominating the local news agenda. Or he may have been trying to obscure his own involvement.


Most importantly, however, Eris Gega had at his disposition a white Fiat Uno. It was a car that many, many witnesses claimed to have seen that morning with, they said, Elisa inside. In October, a cousin of Gildo, Angelo, told him that one man was sure he had seen Elisa between 13.30 and 13.40 on that Sunday. The man was called Ernesto Sonzogni. Gildo went to see him, hoping, not for the first time, that this was a lead that could help resolve the mystery. Sonzogni claimed to have seen Elisa get into a Fiat Uno with a Matera number plate at the bottom of the steps that lead from Via Ravenna to Via Mazzini. Gildo wasn’t overly impressed with the new witness: he was a man who had problems with alcohol, and he occasionally seemed vague and confused about details. But it was a version of events that appeared to be confirmed by another man called Nolè. He too had seen a young woman being shoved into a white Fiat Uno. The authorities follow the lead and it emerges that Eris did, indeed, have a Fiat Uno, and he also had an Albanian friend who had lent him another Fiat Uno. Sonzogni was shown both a video and a photograph of Eris Gega; Sonzogni wasn’t at all convinced that Gega was the man he had seen, from a distance, driving the Fiat Uno, but eventually, and reluctantly, he admitted that there might be a similarity. He signed a statement, and Eris Gega was arrested on 22 December 1993.




*





By mid-October, Eliana was under investigation too. She appears in the Tribunale dei Minori on 13 October. Eliana repeats everything she had declared in the past, but her original lies to Gildo about where she and Elisa had gone, and what they had done, come back to haunt her. She’s thought to be unreliable. She strenuously denies that she was in Via Mazzini with Elisa soon after 12.30, as their friend Adelaide, the one in the car, had claimed. Adelaide says she saw Eliana on her moped that morning and describes the exact clothes she was wearing. Eliana says she left her moped at home that day.


Eliana is one of the leads in the case, and her situation becomes even more complicated in December. That month an anonymous phone call to the police suggests that Elisa had been seen in Rome getting horribly beaten up and then forced into a white Fiat Uno. ‘Help her and help me,’ the voice says weakly. A specialist laboratory in Forlì identifies the voice of the caller as that of Eliana De Cillis. Quite why she would deliberately mislead investigators and plead for help in such a way is unclear. The only explanation seems to be that she is deliberately trying to shift attention away from herself and back onto the mysterious Fiat Uno.




*





On 5 October, almost a month after her disappearance, Chi l’ha visto?, the hugely popular TV programme about missing persons, features the disappearance of Elisa Claps. As always, the production team receive many phone calls, but one, in particular, is intriguing. A woman called Caterina Urciuoli calls from Potenza.


She talks at length about a young man who, she says, is disturbed; a man who has the worrying habit of cutting young girls’ hair on the back of buses. Many people in Potenza knew about it. It was something young girls warned each other about. But no one, until now, had known the name of the man. The person Caterina Urciuoli mentioned was well known to everyone involved with the investigation: Danilo Restivo.


It’s another lead, but, again, the information doesn’t seem entirely disinterested. It turns out that the woman with the tip-off is the mother of Eliana De Cillis’s boyfriend. It’s possible, Gildo thinks, that she’s just doing her civic duty, informing investigators about Restivo’s bizarre hair fetish; but it’s equally possible that she’s deliberately deflecting attention from her son and his girlfriend, both of whom are feeling the heat.


Attention duly turned back to Danilo Restivo and his account of the events of that Sunday morning. There was something in his version that failed to convince the authorities. Of all the people who had been to Mass in the Chiesa della Santissima Trinità that Sunday, no one had seen either Elisa or Danilo. The mother of Angelica, Elisa’s best friend, didn’t see them. Nor did the priest. Danilo’s account of falling in the building site seemed absurd: the rolling head over heels down a whole flight of steps seemed fanciful and the injuries sustained incompatible with such a fall. He had told investigators that he knew the building site because he had already been there with his friend Paola. When investigators talk to Paola, she denies that she’s ever been there with him. She says that Danilo once boasted to her that ‘when he got angry he was capable of doing any manner of evil to someone’. It might have been an idle boast, she says, and Danilo had always been courteous with her. But gossip about him was on the increase as the desperate search for Elisa went on. It was well known that he hung around churches, trying to make friends with priests and parishioners. He had once claimed to have the keys to the church of San Michele, saying that he knew ‘all the secrets’ of the place since he was the one who locked up. People begin to repeat things they’ve heard as a strange sort of Chinese whispering takes place around the city: someone alleges that Restivo had once locked a young girl in a room above the Chiesa della Santissima Trinità and that they had had to knock down the door to release her. Everyone talks about his mania for cutting girls’ hair.




*





The investigation had been placed in the hands of a young female magistrate called Felicia Genovese. She was proceeding slowly and cautiously, and treated the Claps family with curt politeness. Gildo was frustrated by her lack of urgency, especially as far as Restivo was concerned, and he started taking any new information he had to a rival force, the carabinieri, and, particularly, to Marshal Vincenzo Anobile. As well as Anobile and Genovese, there were two police inspectors working on the case, Vito Eufemia and Donato Pace, under the direction of the head of the flying squad, Luigi Grimaldi.


By Christmas 1993, however, little progress appeared to have been made. Gildo and Filomena requested an appointment with the Questore, Antonio Mastrocinque. When mother and son were ushered into his office, Filomena immediately started asking him questions, demanding to know why more wasn’t being done to investigate and apprehend Danilo Restivo. The police chief was evasive and discourteous, clearly irritated by the insistence and impatience of the Claps family. Eventually he stood up and said: ‘Signora, what more do you want? When will you understand that your daughter has run away from home? What do you want us to do?’


Both Gildo and Filomena were stunned. For months they had had to put up with the arrogance and incompetence of the investigators. Now, worse, those idiots were saying that there was nothing to investigate in the first place, that Elisa – their beloved daughter and sister – had simply run away from home. Months of tension and anger rose up in Filomena and she bent down, took off a shoe and threw it at the man. He stood up and started shouting, saying that he would have them both arrested. Filomena stood her ground, continuing to make it very clear what she thought of him and his colleagues. For a few seconds the two gave full vent to their feelings, neither hearing the other as they shouted loudly. The man’s subordinates rushed into the room, and Filomena and Gildo were brusquely ushered out and escorted back to the car park. Once sat in the car, Filomena sobbed uncontrollably as Gildo stared out of the windscreen. His mother’s tears only made him more angry at the officials responsible for finding his sister.


‘It’s difficult to explain’, he wrote years later,




what one feels in a case such as this: the absence, the emptiness that devastates you, the waiting that slowly grinds you down, the hopes that light up and then shatter in a perverse see-sawing of emotions. From one side logic and reason were bringing us ever closer to a deduction that none of us dared to disclose out loud, from the other side the heart and expectations induced us to consider the most fanciful hypotheses in the illusion that Elisa could be still alive who knows where and that soon everything would be over. In the meantime, days became weeks and then months, making the hope that Elisa could return to us ever more feeble.





Life went on, but it would never be the same. The family got through the day on auto-pilot, mechanically doing the usual tasks but doing them without their normal concentration or feelings. The only reason to continue living was to fight the battle for Elisa. Everything else was irrelevant. That terrible uncertainty was, in many ways, even worse than the dreaded possibility that Elisa would never come home. Elisa’s family were almost certain that she was dead, but they also had to live with the merry-go-round of elaborate theories and exotic explanations; they had to explore each crackpot idea and deliberate depistaggio or sidetracking. They had no evidence, no proof of what they knew, of what they instinctively felt. And while some people seemed to be revelling in the hypnotic pleasure of speculating on the fate of Elisa, her family were unable even to bury their beloved daughter, let alone bring anyone to justice. Elisa’s father longed to wreak his own revenge on his own terms, but his wife and sons forbade it; they wanted justice the legal way and began a long, lonely fight to find their daughter and her killer.


Time went by in a daze. Gildo would have bursts of energy, pursuing every possible lead and going over again and again the single frames of that terrible Sunday morning. He spoke to all of Elisa’s friends, questioning them repeatedly in case he had missed anything. He would pursue the authorities, harrying them and pushing them, insisting that they needed to do more. But then he would collapse, exhausted and disillusioned, aware again of the futility of all his efforts. He would flop onto the sofa, watching the news on TV and realising that, if his family’s life had radically changed, so too had the outside world.


The aftershocks of the end of the Cold War were still being felt. It was as if the plate tectonics of geopolitical power had shifted drastically, creating an unexpected peace in certain places and terrible conflicts in others. The tortuous peace process in Northern Ireland had begun, only to be repeatedly blasted off course by the sheer brutality of extremists on both sides. The autumn of 1993 was particularly bloody: an IRA bomb in a fish shop on Belfast’s Shankill Road killed both the bomber, Thomas Begley, and nine Protestants, including four women and two children. There was further outrage when Gerry Adams, who had begun peace talks, was pictured carrying the bomber’s coffin. A revenge Loyalist attack on the quiet village of Greysteel later cost the lives of eight people. In the space of one week, twenty-three people had died. Russia, meanwhile, teetered on the brink of civil war. Boris Yeltsin had dissolved the country’s legislature because it was blocking his reforms. Parliament responded by beginning impeachment proceedings against him, claiming that his actions were unconstitutional. The crisis was eventually resolved by tanks firing on the parliament and fierce street fighting in which almost two hundred people lost their lives. Algeria was in the middle of a bloody civil war, as Islamic guerrillas splintered into ever more violent groups and army militias were drawn into the dirty war. In Egypt, too, there were frequent fundamentalist bomb attacks targeting tourists. Although the World Trade Center in New York had been bombed back in February, killing six and injuring over a thousand, it still appeared that Islamic fundamentalism was a remote problem, largely restricted to the Middle East.


Things were barely more peaceful in Italy. The country was in the throes of a surreal revolution as a handful of determined judges pursued corruption in the highest echelons of power. By the autumn of 1993, almost two hundred parliamentarians were under investigation by the so-called ‘Clean Hands’ investigators. Nearly a thousand businessmen and public officials were also being pursued. Every day brought new accusations and astonishing downfalls as former ministers and prime ministers, including Giulio Andreotti and Bettino Craxi, came under the microscope. As in Russia, there seemed to be a stand-off between parliament and the outside world, as the politicians repeatedly blocked efforts to lift parliamentary immunity. The case of Duilio Poggiolini, director for the previous twenty years of the pharmaceutical department of the Ministry of Health, was representative of the entire system of corruption: billions of lire were found in his, and his wife’s, possession, some of it stuffed inside a lilac-coloured footstool.


The crisis was accentuated by economic factors. Just a year earlier the Italian lire had been devalued. In 1993, for the first time since the end of World War II, consumption fell, dropping by 2.5 per cent. GDP fell by 1.2 per cent. The country had an epic debt problem, and a succession of ‘technical’ governments attempted to force-feed the country the bitter medicine required to lift it out of recession. The cuts were so deeply felt that in Venice the superintendent of the port, Antonio Di Ciò, was knifed to death in his office by an embittered workers’ representative.


Sensing that the nation was on the brink, and that political instability represented an opportunity, the Mafia launched a frontal assault on the symbolic arteries of the state. Throughout 1993, bombs exploded in Milan, Rome and Florence, costing lives and further reducing the credibility of the country’s security forces. Throughout the autumn of that year, details began to emerge of the murky dealings of various security and military officials. As the old certainties of the First Republic collapsed, stories began to emerge of extraordinary collusion between state officials and the criminal underworld. Corrupt judges were arrested in Sicily, and the careers of secret agents like Francesco Delfino seemed to overlap with many of the mysteries of the previous thirty years. Even military officials appeared on the wrong side of legality: one colonel’s wife, Donatella Di Rosa, revealed that the military were so concerned about instability that a coup d’état was being organised. No one seemed safe any more. In Palermo, a respected priest called Pino Puglisi was assassinated for his courageous stance against Cosa Nostra.


As iconic Italians of the post-war period died, it seemed like the passing of an era. Pietro Barilla, the Parma pasta magnate who had turned his grandfather’s business into a global brand, died in September. So too did Edmondo Bernacca, the man who had, for decades, been the country’s most charismatic weather forecaster. A day after his fiftieth wedding anniversary, and having fallen into a coma after a second stroke, Federico Fellini – one of the greatest film directors of the twentieth century – also died. Bruno Pontecorvo, an Italian atomic physicist who had been an assistant to Enrico Fermi and had subsequently defected to the Soviet Union in 1950, passed away in Dubna, on the outskirts of Moscow.


The consequences of the collapse of communism were felt acutely in Italy. Not only did the country’s old Communist Party lose much credibility, so too did those parties whose main raison d’être was to be a bulwark against communism. In the early 1990s, both the Christian Democratic and Italian Communist Parties were on the brink of imploding, not least because the entire party political system of the First Republic seemed caught up in the corruption scandal. New political forces were emerging: in the north, particularly in Lombardy and the Veneto, a separatist movement called the Northern League was exploiting the widespread antipathy towards traditional Roman politics. The League’s leader, Umberto Bossi, was a populist rabble-rouser, a man not averse to resorting to staggering gangster-like language. ‘If a judge’, he said in the month Elisa disappeared, ‘involves us in Tangentopoli they should know that their life is only worth a bullet.’ It was the first of many warnings that the cure for the ills of the First Republic might be worse than those ills themselves. In fact, a few days later a poll of public attitudes revealed that, given the incredible corruption of the political system, 26 per cent of Italians would be in favour of a tax strike. Once again, it was a warning of a dark future, a hint that a possible solution to the illegality of the First Republic would be simply a different kind of illegality in the Second. Tax evasion, it was felt, was suddenly an almost moral practice.


It was mid-October, a month after Elisa’s disappearance, when a highly secret manifesto was revealed: it was an outline of political ideals that was calculated to appeal to the vast majority of the electorate. It had been created through focus groups, market research and opinion polls. The manifesto was put together like an advert, with carefully constructed slogans and buzzwords. It was about to be sold to the public by the most charismatic, and controversial, salesman on the peninsula: Silvio Berlusconi. A few weeks later, on 5 November 1993, a national association called Forza Italia came into being. It was a shrewd move: not only was there clearly a power vacuum at the heart of Italian politics, but Berlusconi’s company, Fininvest, was saddled with colossal debts. The government of Carlo Azeglio Ciampi was also contemplating dismantling the near monopoly Berlusconi enjoyed in the arena of commercial television. It seemed like a propitious time to seize power, to rescue both the nation and his empire from the external threats. To many Berlusconi was the ideal riposte to the grey, dour and sometimes dirty world of the Christian Democratic Party. He was flash, entrepreneurial, magnetic and, above all, successful. Everything he did – in construction, television and football – seemed to turn to gold. He appeared to be the answer to Italy’s prayers.


It wasn’t, in short, a time in which the provincial story of a missing teenager was likely to find space in any national newspapers. The Elisa Claps story was still just a family tragedy rather than – as it would become over subsequent years and decades – a national, even an international one. As the Claps family endured their first Christmas without Elisa, it seemed as if only they, and a handful of relatives and friends, really remembered her at all.
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